#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## Case No. SC11-1016 Lower Court Case No. 95-2284CFA

BRANDY BAIN JENNINGS, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAUL KALIL Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 174114

ELIZABETH STEWART Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 87450

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel. (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, in and for Collier County, Florida, sitting in Pinellas County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences of death at issue in this case. Mr. Jennings and co-defendant Charles Jason Graves were tried separately and found guilty of three counts of first degree murder and one count of robbery occurring at a Cracker Barrel Restaurant in Naples, Florida.

The State pursued death for Mr. Jennings and the jury recommended a sentence of death on each count by a vote of ten (10) to two (2) (R. 784). The circuit court sentenced Mr. Jennings to die in the electric chair. (R. 784-790). In affirming Mr. Jennings's convictions and sentences, this Court relied on the following findings which are relevant to this appeal:

Dorothy Siddle, Vicki Smith, and Jason Wiggins, all of whom worked at the Cracker Barrel Restaurant in Naples, were killed during an early morning robbery of the restaurant on November 15, 1995. Upon arriving on the scene, police found the bodies of all three victims lying in pools of blood on the freezer floor with their throats slashed.

\* \* \*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State initially sought death for both defendants but chose not to pursue a death sentence in Mr. Graves's case and he was sentenced to life in prison. (See R. 788).

Police also found bloody shoe prints leading from the freezer, through the kitchen, and into the office, blood spots in and around the kitchen sink, and an opened office safe surrounded by plastic containers and cash. Outside, leading away from the back of the restaurant, police found scattered bills and coins, shoe tracks, a Buck knife, a Buck knife case, a pair of blood-stained gloves, and a Daisy air pistol.

Jennings (age twenty-six) and Jason Graves (age eighteen), both of whom had previously worked at the Cracker Barrel and knew the victims, were apprehended and jailed approximately three weeks later in Las Vegas, Nevada, where Jennings ultimately made lengthy statements to Florida law enforcement personnel. In a taped interview, Jennings blamed the murders on Graves, but admitted his (Jennings') involvement in planning and, after several aborted attempts, actually perpetrating the robbery with Graves. Jennings acknowledged wearing gloves during the robbery and using his Buck knife in taping the victims' hands, but claimed that, after doing so, he must have set the Buck knife down somewhere and did not remember seeing it again. Jennings further stated that he saw the dead bodies in the freezer and that his foot slipped in some blood, but that he did not remember falling, getting blood on his clothes or hands, or washing his hands in the kitchen sink. Jennings also stated that the Daisy air pistol belonged to Graves, and directed police to a canal where he and Graves had thrown other evidence of the crime.

In an untaped interview the next day, during which he was confronted with inconsistencies in his story and the evidence against him, Jennings stated, "I think I could have been the killer. In my mind I think I could have killed them, but in my heart I don't think I could have."

At trial, the taped interview was played for the jury, and one of the officers testified regarding Jennings' untaped statements made the next day. The items ultimately recovered from the canal were also entered into evidence.

The medical examiner, who performed autopsies on the victims, testified that they died from "sharp force injuries" to the neck caused by "a sharp-bladed instrument with a very strong blade," like the Buck knife found at the crime scene. A forensic serologist testified that traces of blood were found on the Buck knife, the Buck knife case, the area around the sink, and one of the gloves recovered from the crime scene, but in an amount insufficient for further analysis. An impressions expert testified that Jennings' tennis shoes recovered from the canal matched the bloody shoe prints inside the restaurant as well as some of the shoe prints from the outside tracks leading away from the restaurant.

The State also presented testimony concerning previous statements made by Jennings regarding robbery and witness elimination in general. Specifically, Angela Chainey, who had been a friend of Jennings', testified that about two years before the crimes Jennings said that if he ever needed any money he could always rob someplace or somebody. Chainey further testified that when she responded, "That's stupid. You could get caught," Jennings replied, while making a motion across his throat, "Not if you don't leave any witnesses." On cross-examination, Chainey further testified that Jennings had "made statements similar to that several times."

Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1998) (footnotes omitted). Mr. Jennings timely petitioned the United States Supreme Court for certiorari which was denied. *Jennings v. Florida*, 119 S. Ct. 2407 (1999).

On March 12, 2000, Mr. Jennings filed a "shell" motion for postconviction relief and requested leave to amend. Mr. Jennings filed an amended motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence on June 22, 2000. At that time, public records issues remained outstanding and Mr. Jennings again sought leave to amend.

Mr. Jennings's filed his final amended motion to vacate on July 27, 2009. After conducting a Huff hearing, the Honorable Frederick Hardt granted an evidentiary hearing on several claims including Ground I(a) as to the allegations regarding trial counsel's failure to adequately impeach state witness Angela Cheney, Ground III as to whether trial counsel was ineffective at penalty phase for failing to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation, Ground IV as to whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare mitigation evidence, and Ground VI as to whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge Mr. Jennings's competency waive his Miranda rights. to (PCR. 2549-2562). The circuit court summarily denied Mr. Jennings's remaining claims.

Mr. Jennings presented several witnesses at the evidentiary hearing. Angela Chaney testified that she recalled testifying at Mr. Jennings's trial concerning a conversation she had with Mr. Jennings when she was in high school wherein

Mr. Jennings purportedly made inculpatory statements. Ms. Cheney testified that she was friends with Mr. Graves before she met Mr. Jennings (PCR. 2858). Chaney and Graves had grown up together. (PCR. 2865). At the time Mr. Jennings was purported to have made his inculpatory statement to Ms. Cheney, she was living with Mr. Jennings and they had a "dating relationship" which lasted about a month. (PCR. 2858). Ms. Cheney was married to Robert Cheney, Charles Graves's brother, for a period of about two years between 1994 and 1996, while Mr. Jennings and Mr. Graves were awaiting trial. (PCR. 2859). Ms. Cheney further testified that she might have been married to Mr. Graves when she testified at Mr. Jennings's trial, albeit they were separated. Ms. Cheney was related to Mr. Jennings's co-defendant and she and Mr. Jennings had had a romantic relationship that ended after one month, after which they "did not remain friends or acquaintances." (PCR. 2868).

Ms. Cheney testified that after Mr. Jennings and Mr. Graves were arrested in Las Vegas, Graves contacted her from the Las Vegas jail to request that she help him. (PCR. 2859) Ms. Cheney had told the police and State Attorney that she was concerned for Mr. Graves's mental and physical well-being. (PCR. 2859). She recalled a sworn statement at which she told the State Attorney that she had 30 to 40 telephone conversations with Mr. Graves while he was in jail awaiting his trial.

She recalled that she visited him at least one time, and that she might even have brought her daughter to the jail to see Mr. Graves. (PCR. 2862).

Ms. Cheney also recalled being present at a meeting with the lawyer that the Cheney family was trying to get to represent Mr. Graves. Ms. Cheney contacted law enforcement and met with them at a McDonald's restaurant to speak to them on Mr. Graves's behalf about their conversations in an effort to help him out. (PCR. 2865). Ms. Cheney's then-husband, who was also Mr. Jennings's co-defendant's brother, was present when Ms. Cheney spoke to the police.

Ms. Cheney testified that the purported discussion with Mr. Jennings occurred "in the apartment that I lived with him – I think it might have been Waverly," but "I don't remember the name exactly." (PCR. 2863). Ms. Cheney admitted to a history of drug abuse, and that she was "quite possibly" using drugs at the time that Mr. Jennings is alleged to have made his inculpatory statements. Ms Cheney had used drugs in high school and had been placed in a treatment program for drug addiction or substance abuse prior to testifying at Mr. Jennings's trial.

Mr. Jennings's trial counsel Thomas Osteen testified at the evidentiary hearing. At the time he represented Mr. Jennings, Mr. Osteen had represented defendants in "maybe 30 capital cases." (PCR. 2876). According to Mr. Osteen,

most of his cases went to penalty phase and most of the clients were sentenced to death, however "most got off death row one way or the other." (PCR. 2877). Mr. Osteen's co-counsel for Mr. Jennings's case, Adam Sapenoff, had no prior capital case experience. Mr. Sapenoff cross-examined one expert during the guilt phase and assisted with paperwork. (PCR. 2900). Mr. Sapenoff did not participate in the penalty phase "other than being present" (PCR. 2900) and did not conduct any penalty phase investigation or assist with discovery. (PCR. 2901).

Mr. Osteen testified that he had no recollection of deposing Ms. Cheney, but if he had, the deposition would be in his files. (PCR. 2905). He had no knowledge of any history of a boyfriend/girlfriend relationship between Ms. Cheney and Mr. Jennings. (PCR. 2904). He had no knowledge of Ms. Cheney's relationship to Mr. Graves. (PCR. 2904). Mr. Osteen testified that he would have known the substance of Ms. Cheney's trial testimony from discovery. (PCR. 2904).

In discovery Mr. Osteen received a police report and statement by Ms. Cheney wherein she states that Graves called her from the Las Vegas jail and "told her everything." (PCR. 2906). The statement also indicated that Ms. Cheney was Mr. Graves's sister-in-law. (PCR. 2906). Mr. Osteen did not cross-examine Ms. Cheney to reveal her motives and bias.

Mr. Osteen knew that Ms. Cheney would offer damaging testimony but made no effort to investigate Ms. Cheney's background. (PCR. 2910). Mr. Osteen was not aware of Ms. Cheney's drug abuse and addiction history, nor the fact that she and Mr. Jennings had previously had a relationship. (PCR. 2909). Mr. Osteen didn't think of any reason to conduct a background investigation of Ms. Cheney. (PCR. 2909).

In preparation for the penalty phase, Mr. Osteen spoke to Mr. Jennings's mother and friends who knew him. (PCR. 2878). He requested that mental health experts to assist him and the court appointed Dr. Masterson, a psychologist, and Dr. Wald, a psychiatrist. (PCR. 2878). Mr. Osteen recalls that he first wanted to find out if Mr. Jennings was legally competent. Secondly, Mr. Osteen asked Dr. Wald "to go into his personality, his background. Anything at all that would be a mitigating factor in a penalty phase." (PCR. 2879). Dr. Wald was a psychiatrist and did not do any testing, so Mr. Osteen asked that Dr. Masterson be appointed. (PCR. 2888).

Mr. Osteen felt he had a good relationship with Dr. Wald, and believed Dr. Wald knew what kind of evaluation he wanted. Dr. Wald's report indicates that he was "appointed to assist the defendant," but does not indicate whether he was to conduct a competency/sanity evaluation or an evaluation for the purposes of

mitigation. (PCR. 2883; Defense Exhibit 9). Dr. Wald was not provided with any school or medical records because Mr. Osteen made no effort to obtain them. (PCR. 2982).

Dr. Wald and Dr. Masterson evaluated Mr. Jennings and prepared reports. Dr. Wald's report indicates that he was "appointed to assist the defendant," but does not indicate whether he was to conduct a competency/sanity evaluation or an evaluation for the purposes of mitigation. (PCR. 2883; Defense Exhibit 9). When moving for Dr. Wald's appointment, Mr. Osteen requested only that an expert be appointed to determine whether Mr. Jennings "may be incompetent to proceed or may have been insane at the time of the offense." The request makes no mention of an expert to assist in any mitigation investigation or evaluation. (PCR. 2885). Subsequently, Judge Blackwell issued an order appointing Dr. Wald "to examine the defendant and then make reports to defense counsel as I may direct." (PCR. 2884).

Mr. Osteen did not consider seeking the assistance of a mitigation specialist. Mr. Osteen testified, "I think I know what you're talking about and, no, I did not hire a so-called mitigation specialist." (PCR. 2888). Instead, Mr. Osteen relied on Ed Neary, a retired New York police officer who was then Chief Investigator for the Public Defender's Office, to conduct the mitigation investigation. Mr. Osteen

was not sure if Mr. Neary travelled outside of Florida to conduct any investigation, and had no knowledge of whether Mr. Neary had any mental health training and expertise. (PCR. 2902).

Mr. Osteen's mitigation investigation included talking to Mr. Jennings's mother, Tawny Jennings, at her home or by telephone two or three different times (PCR. 2895), and speaking with some of his friends. From Tawny Jennings, Mr. Osteen learned that Mr. Jennings was raised by his mother, with whom he had a close, loving relationship. He also learned that Mr. Jennings had "not much" education and was from a low socio-economic background. Mr. Osteen believed that "If there was one thing Mr. Jennings had, he had a mother. A good one." (PCR. 2819). He learned nothing about any history of sexual abuse and incest in the Jennings family. (PCR. 2896).

From Mr. Jennings's friends, Mr. Osteen learned that Mr. Jennings had a "spotty" employment record, though he made did not obtain any of Mr. Jennings's employment records. (PCR. 2894). Mr. Osteen did not obtain any medical or school records. (PCR. 2892). He did not talk to any of Mr. Jennings's relatives except for his mother. (PCR. 2893). He did not speak to any of Mr. Jennings's friends from out of State who would have information about Mr. Jennings's childhood. (PCR. 2893).

Mr. Osteen testified that his investigator, Mr. Neary, did contact one out-of-state witness, Heather Johnson, by written correspondence. Mr. Neary requested that Ms. Johnson provide "any good word that you can give concerning our client Mr. Jennings." (PCR. 2934). Nobody spoke with Ms. Johnson (PCR. 2893).

Mr. Osteen's theory of the defense for the penalty phase was that, because Drs. Wald and Masterson would not be helpful, he would rely on Mr. Jennings's mother and friends "to make as many good statements about the defendant as they could. He had no prior record." (PCR. 2898). Mr. Osteen felt that the mother was a good witness who loved her son and elicited some sympathy from the jury. (PCR. 2921).

Mr. Osteen testified that he "probably" was familiar with the American Bar Association Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases," but he could not recall what version of the ABA Guidelines was in effect at the time of Mr. Jennings's trial. (PCR. 2889). In any event, he would "probably not" refer to ABA Guidelines in deciding what course of action to take in representing Mr. Jennings. (PCR. 2889).

Patricia Scudder, Mr. Jennings's cousin, testified at the evidentiary hearing. Ms. Scudder knew Mr. Jennings when he was a child up until age 14 when they lived in Oregon. (PCR. 2786). Between the ages of 6 and 12, Brandy and Tawny

lived at the Buccaneer Motel. (PCR. 2795). On several occasions, Brandy and Tawny lived with Mrs. Scudder for weeks at a time.

Tawny's home was a "disaster." (PCR. 2788). The home was messy to the extent that there were used tampons left lying around. (PCR. 2788). The bed was covered with clothes so Brandy had to sleep with Tawny on a hide-a-bed in living room. At one time, Brandy lived with his grandparents and his mother in a trailer. Another time they were living in an apartment with dog feces on floor and piles of dirty dishes. (PCR. 2790).

Mrs. Scudder testified that that Tawny had a series of "fly-by" boyfriends. One boyfriend named Frank was jealous of Mr. Jennings and ostracized him. (PCR. 2791). Frank and Tawny drank constantly and Tawny took pain pills. Mrs. Scudder explained that Mr. Jennings was named "Brandy" because Tawny was drunk on brandy when she got pregnant. (PCR. 2792).

Mrs. Scudder testified that Tawny "used" Brandy and showed him no love. (PCR. 2792). Brandy was overweight because he ate nothing but junk food. (PCR. 2792). Brandy was not allowed to play with other children because Tawny was overprotective. Mrs. Scudder recalled that Brandy was breastfed until he was 4 or 5 years old, and he would ask Tawny to breast-feed him. (PCR. 2793).

Mrs. Scudder testified that George "Sonny" Jennings, Mr. Jennings's uncle, was a child molester. (PCR. 2800). Walter J. Crume, another uncle by marriage who ran the Buccaneer Motel and often watched over Brandy when Tawny was out, also was a child molester. (PCR. 2795-2796). Tawny would leave Brandy alone with Mr. Crume despite her knowledge that Crume was a child molester. (PCR. 2800). Mrs. Scudder also recalled an occasion when three men stayed overnight with Tawny while Brandy was at home. The next morning, Mrs. Scudder walked in to find Tawny and one of the men in bed, naked, with Brandy at the foot of the bed. (PCR. 2799).

Lloyd Scudder, Patricia's husband of 35 years, testified that he is a disabled veteran who now works with children as a motivational speaker. Mr. Scudder knew Brandy when he was 5 to 14. (PCR. 2814). Mr. Scudder testified that "Sonny" molested Patricia and Walter Crume molested Mr. Scudder's son. (PCR. 2815). Mr. Scudder recalled that Tawny had a relationship with her stepnephew, Bob Gifford, who would call her to meet up. Tawny smoked marijuana, used pills and always complained of being in pain. (PCR. 2818). Mr. Scudder corroborated the fact that Tawny breastfed Brandy until he was 5 years old. (PCR. 2818).

Mr. Scudder testified that Tawny had no money and did not maintain a job. Other than relying on welfare, the only way she got money was "probably hooking" or she would get "a hold of truck drivers." (PCR. 2821). When she did have money, Tawny spent it on herself and her boyfriends.

Heather Johnson testified that she was a close friend of Mr. Jennings. When she knew Mr. Jennings, he lived with the McBride family and with his mother at the Wonderland Motel, a run-down motel in North Fort Myers. (PCR. 2831). Mr. Jennings expressed resentment and frustration with his mother yet was protective of her. Ms. Johnson described Tawny as hard and cold, and their relationship as contentious. Tawny was demanding and tough and Brandy always wanted to please his mom. (PCR. 2829). Ms. Johnson also explained how Mr. Jennings quit school to help his mom because she was always ill or disabled. (PCR. 2831). She also recalled that Ms. Jennings was tough "hard – there wasn't a lot of warmth there...She was tough. She was scary. She would intimidate me." (PCR. 2829).

Ms. Johnson described Mr. Jennings as bright, but not good at articulating what upset him. While impulsive and a little immature, Mr. Jennings was gentle natured and reserved. Ms. Johnson felt that Mr. Jennings was very protective of

her, and he made her feel safe. (PCR. 2831). He was not a leader and did not have dominant personality. (PCR. 2831-2832).

Ms. Johnson recalled getting a letter from Mr. Jennings's trial attorney asking for a character reference, but "I didn't really know what they wanted [from] me..." (PCR. 2831). Ms. Johnson responded in writing but does not recall any other contact with trial counsel. She would "absolutely" have testified for Mr. Jennings had she been asked. (PCR. 2831).

Bruce Martin testified that he has known Brandy Jennings since about 1987. Mr. Jennings lived with Mr. McBride, his father, and half-brothers when he was 16 to 17 years old. Mr. Martin lived with Mr. Jennings for approximately five years, including the period of November, 1993 (PCR. 3141). Mr. Martin identified the lease he signed on October 20, 1993, which indicates that he was living at the North Gate Club apartments at that time. (PCR. 3140). He also testified that Mr. Jennings lived with him at North Gate Club during this period. (PCR. 3140). Mr. Martin stated that Mr. Jennings was dating a girl named Mary Hamler at the time, not Angela Cheney. (PCR. 2140).

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