IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRANDY BAIN JENNINGS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-1016 Lower Tribunal No. 95-2284 CFA WLB

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Notably, some of the facts cited in support of Jennings' argument are not fully supported by the record. For example, that Cheney "helped" Graves when Graves Jennings asserts contacted her from jail in Las Vegas (Initial Brief, p. 65), but Cheney testified she did not think her talking law enforcement helped Graves, it was just the right thing to do and a way to ease her own conscience (V15/2864-65). Jennings also claims that trial counsel "had no knowledge of any history of a boyfriend/girlfriend relationship" between Cheney and Jennings (Initial Brief, p. 68), but when Osteen was asked about his understanding of the relationship, he responded, "I want to say boyfriend and girlfriend, but, no, I can't say for sure" (V15/2903-04). Of course, just because Osteen was uncertain about the exact relationship at the evidentiary hearing in 2010 does not establish that he was uncertain about it at the time of trial in 1996, but he clearly was not surprised at suggestion that Cheney and Jennings had briefly dated at one point.

There was no testimony at the hearing offered to support

any conclusion that Osteen's cross-examination at trial was unreasonable or constitutionally deficient. Certainly there was no direct evidence that all reasonable attorneys would have conducted the cross-examination differently. Osteen did not testify, even in hindsight, that he had failed to conduct a reasonable cross-examination, and he did not suggest he would do anything differently if given another opportunity. Cheney did not reveal any hostility or negative feelings that could have been used to suggest bias either for or against Jennings or for against Graves. Jennings has never denied making or the statement and gesture attributed to him and there is nothing to suggest that he advised Osteen that Cheney's testimony was only a result of bad feelings due to their prior relationship. Although Jennings faults counsel for failing to inform the jury of Cheney's "close familial and friendly relationship" with Graves (Initial Brief, p. 64), he did not establish any close familial relationship since Cheney testified she was either divorced or seeking a divorce from Graves' brother at the time of trial, and the jury did in fact hear that Cheney was friends with Graves (V15/2858-59; DA. V10/699).

Moreover, Jennings has failed to offer any reasonable basis for a finding of prejudice. Had counsel elicited the information provided in postconviction about Cheney's relationships with Jennings, Graves, and Robert Cheney, there is no reasonable probability that Jennings would not have been convicted of these murders. Cheney was not a critical witness; she did not have any direct information about the Cracker Barrel robbery or murders. None of the additional information developed in postconviction diminishes Cheney's credibility. Moreover, even if Cheney had never testified at trial, the evidence of Jennings' culpability in the murders was overwhelming. On these facts, any purported deficiently in Cheney's cross-examination could affected the outcome at trial. The aggravating factors supporting Jennings' death sentences are not founded on this testimony and would have applied even if Cheney's statements had never been admitted, so no prejudice as to sentence has been offered either.

To the extent Jennings now asserts that counsel should have established that the statement "could not have been made" and/or that Cheney and Jennings may have been using illegal substances at the time of the statement, his allegations are procedurally barred since they were not offered in his initial motion. See Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(4) (any amendment to motion must be made prior to evidentiary hearing). In this case, Jennings' failure to fully plead this issue precluded the parties from developing the relevant information at the

evidentiary hearing. For example, although Jennings asserts that counsel should have explored the drug use with Cheney, trial counsel may very well have not wanted the jury to hear that Jennings had previously been involved with drugs. It is a common defense practice and trial strategy to avoid having the jury hear that the defendant has committed crimes in addition to the charges being tried at trial, and in all likelihood Osteen would have strategically avoided exploring the drug issue; but because this was not alleged as a basis for ineffectiveness, the State did not ask Osteen about this. Therefore, this Court should reject any reliance on the new allegations as to this issue as untimely and procedurally barred.

In addition, Jennings' additional allegations are without merit. The postconviction testimony that Jennings was living with Bruce Martin in November of 1993 and that Jennings was dating Mary Hamler during this time does not suggest that Jennings never made these statements. Cheney testified at trial that the statement had been made at Jennings' apartment with other people around, including Chris Graves and a guy named Bruce (DA. V10/701). At the postconviction hearing, Cheney testified that she could not remember the name of the apartment, but Jennings had two other roommates there (V15/2863, 2869). She recalled that others had been around at the time of the

statement, including possibly one of Jennings' (V15/2863). Although Bruce Martin testified vaguely Jennings' girlfriend was Mary Hamler "at this time," the lease at the apartments was presumably for a year starting in late October, so all of the trial and postconviction testimony is consistent: Jennings and Bruce were living together in apartment at the time that Cheney places the statement, which Jennings made in the presence of other people including "Bruce" according to the trial testimony and "one of his roommates" according to the postconviction testimony. Mary Hamler testified at sentencing that she and Jennings lived together for about two and a half years (DA. V5/714). Since Jennings and Cheney were only together briefly around the time of the statement, he could have dated Hamler after that time and been with her substantial portion of the time that he lived with Bruce Martin at the same Naples apartment where the statement was made in Cheney's presence. Martin had difficulty recalling Mary's name and certainly she dated Jennings a significantly longer period of time than Cheney; it is no surprise that he would identify Mary as the girlfriend Jennings had at this point in his life. Nor is the fact that Cheney thought it might have been the Waverly Apartments when the lease with Martin was for the North Gate Club Apartments; Cheney admitted that she did not recall

the name of the complex, and although she described the apartment and offered to explain how to get there, the defense did not question Martin on these details to determine whether it could have been the same apartment complex. Of course the State was unaware that the location was an issue, since this had not been pled, and therefore did not explore the uncertainty about the location which Jennings now attempts to introduce.

As to the claim that counsel should have questioned Cheney about her prior drug use, there was no showing that either she or Jennings were on drugs at the time Jennings' statement was made; Cheney was asked whether "anybody" in the home at that was using drugs, and she responded "quite possibly" (V15/2865-66). The reasoning for even asking Cheney this line of questioning is not clear; if counsel was intending to suggest that Cheney's memory or Jennings' statement had been affected by drug use, he did not present any testimony which supports this theory. If the idea was to impeach Cheney as a witness by showing that she had a history of illegal drug use, that is not a permissible line of impeachment. Absent some showing of how this information could have been used in cross-examination, it is irrelevant and counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to ask for inadmissible or irrelevant information. Even if the questions could have been asked and answered, again no possible prejudice has been demonstrated.

On these facts, Jennings' current claim that trial counsel failed to investigate Cheney's statement or prepare for her The cross-examination is without merit. information which Jennings claims should have been discovered and presented to the jury was known by Jennings himself, and he has never indicated that he provided this information to counsel or gave counsel any reason to believe that Cheney's testimony was impeachment on any of these bases. The cross-examination of a trial witness is a matter well within the scope of an attorney's strategy, and Jennings has failed to overcome the presumption that Osteen performed reasonably in this regard. Jennings failed to demonstrate any deficient performance or potential prejudice premised on trial counsel's failure to ask additional questions in the cross-examination of Angela Cheney. His claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on this basis was properly denied, a ruling which must be affirmed on appeal.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING JENNINGS' OTHER POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS.

Jennings' final issue disputes the summary denial of several other postconviction claims. This Court reviews the propriety of such rulings de novo. Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 125 (Fla. 2008) (postconviction motion denied solely on the pleadings presents a legal issue, reviewed de novo). Such a review confirms that the trial court correctly rejected these claims without an evidentiary hearing.

order to obtain an evidentiary hearing In postconviction claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must specifically allege both deficient performance and prejudice. Ponticelli v. State, 941 So. 2d 1073, 1104 (Fla. 2006); Nelson v. State, 875 So. 2d 579, 583 (Fla. 2004). Claims that are based upon speculation or contain only conclusory allegations are insufficient and should be summarily denied. Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 951 (Fla. 2000); Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). See also Doorbal v. State, 983 So. 2d 464, 485 (Fla. 2008) ("Counsel for Doorbal appears to operate under the incorrect assumption that conclusory, nonspecific allegations are sufficient to obtain an evidentiary hearing on claims of ineffective assistance counsel, and specific facts and arguments need not be disclosed or presented until the evidentiary hearing. We strongly reiterate to those who represent capital defendants in postconviction proceedings that claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must comply with the pleading requirements enunciated by this Court"). As will be seen, the claims challenged in this issue were procedurally barred and/or insufficiently pled, and summary denial was proper and must be affirmed.

A. Prosecutorial Argument

The first ruling challenged under this issue denied an evidentiary hearing on Jennings' claim of improper prosecutorial argument. This issue was framed as a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, and despite Jennings' allegation that defense counsel's failure to raise any proper objection to the prosecutor's statements was deficient performance, he offers no facts to support any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. He does not assert that any objection would have been sustained and he does not allege any prejudice.

Jennings offers three bases for finding that the prosecutor's comments denied him a fair trial and violated his constitutional rights. First, he asserts that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct "by making improper comments during the guilt phase" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 73). He does not identify the ostensibly improper comments or provide any record

citation in support of his allegation. This failure renders his claim legally insufficient.

Next, he claims that three comments in the penalty phase improper, citing the prosecutor's argument were reference to the nature of his mitigation as "an attempt to accountability," (DA. V11/914); the prosecutor's escape reference to Jennings having spent the proceeds of the crime at "a topless dance club," (DA. V11/914); and the prosecutor's revelation that co-defendant Graves had received a life sentence (DA. V11/934). Taking the last complaint first, it was the defense that submitted Graves' life sentence as a mitigating factor (DA. V11/910-11), so the prosecutor can hardly be faulted for noting the undisputed fact that Graves had been sentenced to life. As to the comment about Jennings spending the Cracker Barrel money at a topless dance club, the remark was supported by the testimony of Danielle Martel, who testified at trial that Jennings and Graves came in to Flirts, a topless dance club, spending approximately \$1000 over two nights shortly after the murders (DA. V9/503-04, 506). Finally, any impropriety in the isolated suggestion that Jennings' mitigation evidence was an attempt to avoid accountability could not possibly have vitiated the fairness of Jennings' trial. Jennings has not cited a single case in support of his claim that the prosecutor's penalty phase

closing argument was improper in any respect.

The bulk of Jennings' argument on this subclaim is devoted to his assertion that the prosecutor took inconsistent positions between Jennings' trial and the trial of his co-defendant. This claim is procedurally barred, having been litigated previously, and is also refuted by the record factually, as the trial court specifically found that "[t]he prosecution took the same position in both trials" (DA. V5/788), a finding approved by this Court on direct appeal. <u>Jennings</u>, 718 So. 2d at 154. With this background, the court below could not have granted an evidentiary hearing, and this subclaim was properly summarily denied.

B. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel - Forensic Evidence

The second ruling challenged under this issue denied Jennings' claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to adequately challenge the forensic evidence. The postconviction motion filed below asserted that trial counsel should have presented a defense expert to refute the forensic evidence offered by the State, but never identified any specific testimony that could be offered by such an expert. Similarly, although Jennings asserts that counsel should have requested a hearing under Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), conducted additional cross-examination, or otherwise

challenged the forensic testimony, there is no allegation as to what these purportedly required acts would accomplish. Accordingly, Jennings' claim was legally insufficient and properly summarily denied. Bryant v. State, 901 So. 2d 810, 821-22 (Fla. 2005) (claim of ineffective assistance premised on counsel's failure to call witnesses must be supported by specific allegations as to what testimony could have been elicited and how the failure to call the witnesses prejudiced the case); Nelson, 875 So. 2d at 582-83 (noting necessity of pleading "what a witness's testimony would have been and the witness's ability to testify at trial" on such claims).

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel - Admission of Jennings' Post-Arrest Statements

The third ruling challenged under this issue denied Jennings' claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the admissibility of Jennings' statements. Once again a review of the record confirms that this claim was legally insufficient. Jennings recognizes that the court below denied this claim because he did not identify any police misconduct to support an argument for suppression and because he did not assert that the statements would have been suppressed had counsel investigated the issue, but he still fails to provide those necessary allegations. He makes no argument that

such allegations were not necessary and again fails to cite a single case to support his claim of error, either as to the substantive issue or the summary denial.

Notably, Jennings was granted a hearing on his claim that trial counsel had been ineffective for failing to establish that Jennings was not competent to waive his constitutional rights (V13/1554-55). He presented no evidence and offered no argument in support of that subclaim. He has never identified any particular witnesses or evidence which could have been presented had he received an evidentiary hearing on any of the three subclaims presented in this issue.

As these three postconviction claims were procedurally barred and/or legally insufficient, summary denial was compelled. No error has been demonstrated with regard to the lower court's ruling on these claims, and this Court must affirm.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the Order entered below denying postconviction relief.